Ethanol but not Nicotine Administration during Adolescence Leads to Alterations in Neurogenesis in the Hippocampal Dentate Gyrus During Protracted Abstinence

By

### Justin M. Asbee

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Radford University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in the Department of Psychology

Thesis Advisor: Dr. Dayna Hayes

December 2016

Copyright 2016, Justin M. Asbee

Dr. Dayna Hayes Thesis Advisor

Dr. Pamela Jackson Committee Member

1/20/17

Date

20 201

Dr. Sarah Redmond Committee Member

Date

### Abstract

During adolescence increased risk-taking behavior can lead to experimentation with drugs and alcohol. The two most commonly co-abused drugs are ethanol and nicotine. Adolescents are particularly susceptible to a host of alterations following drug use, such as decreases in neurogenesis. Neurogenesis is the production of new neurons and consists of four stages: proliferation, differentiation, maturation, and survival. One area of the brain where neurogenesis occurs is the hippocampus, which plays an essential role in spatial memory. To examine the separate and combined effects of ethanol and nicotine on proliferation, adolescent male Sprague-Dawley rats were administered nicotine (0.3 mg/kg; s.c.) or saline every 8 hours for 10 days. Animals were also given ethanol (25% in nutritionally complete diet; oral gavage) or a control diet containing dextrose on the final 4 days of injections. An unhandled control condition was added to examine potential influences of administration procedures. Animals went through a withdrawal period of 17 days. During withdrawal, animals performed a behavioral test of spatial memory, the Morris water maze. Animals were perfused transcardially and brains were extracted. Brain tissue slices were stained using Ki67, and newly born neurons along the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus were quantified. During extended withdrawal, ethanol administration lead to decreased proliferation in the SGZ. An effect of nicotine or an interaction between ethanol and nicotine was not observed on proliferation. This study provides some insight into the effects of binge type ethanol consumption and nicotine use like that of a light smoker.

> Justin M. Asbee, M.A. Department of Psychology, 2016 Radford University

> > ii

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract ii
Table of Contentsiii
List of Figures iv
Chapter 1. Introduction1
Neurogenesis1
Ethanol5
Nicotine
Interaction between Ethanol and Nicotine
Current Study
Design15
Chapter 2. Method
Animals16
Drug Administration and Behavioral Testing18
Analysis of Cell Proliferation
Chapter 3. Results
Body Weights
Ethanol Dose
Withdrawal
Behavioral Effects
Ki67+ Cells/Section
Chapter 4. Discussion

Proliferation	
Morris Water Maze	41
Withdrawal	43
Drug Administration	45
Nutrition	46
References	49

# List of Tables and Figures

	Page
Figure 1. Timeline of Study Events	17
Figure 2. Body Weights Over Time	24
Figure 3. Withdrawal Behaviors	26
Figure 4. Withdrawal Behaviors Over the Course of Withdrawal	28
Table 1. Means and Standard Deviations of Withdrawal Scores	29
Figure 5. Mean Number of Ki67+ Hippocampal cells/Section	31
Figure 6. Mean Number of Ki67+ Hippocampal cells/Section Control vs Unhandled ani	mals33

### Introduction

Throughout life many mammals, humans included, will continuously produce new neurons via a process known as neurogenesis (Zhao, Deng, & Gage, 2008). Adolescence is associated with a higher rate of neurogenesis compared to later stages of life (Nixon et al., 2010). Adolescence is also a period of exploration, with an increased likelihood of experimentation with drugs and alcohol (Nixon et al., 2010). Unfortunately, adolescents are also more vulnerable to the neurotoxic effects of drug use, such as decreases in neurogenesis (Nixon et al., 2010). Two of the most commonly used drugs among teens are alcohol and nicotine (NSDUH, 2013). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) has found that about 2.9 million adolescents in America admit to current alcohol use, while more than 1.6 million adolescents admit to cigarette use in the past month (NSDUH, 2013). Furthermore, people who consume alcohol have an increased likelihood of nicotine use, with alcoholics being close to three times more likely than the general population to be smokers (Lê et al., 2014). However, many of the neurobiological effects of combined alcohol and nicotine use have yet to be elucidated.

### Neurogenesis

Neurogenesis is a broad term that incorporates several processes including cell proliferation, differentiation, maturation, and integration into existing neural circuitry (Zhao, et al., 2008). Postnatal neurogenesis was initially observed in various species during the 1960s (Altman & Gopal, 1965). Until recently, it was believed that neurogenesis did not occur in the adult human brain. Eriksson et al. (1998) were the first to demonstrate neurogenesis in the hippocampus of adult humans by examining postmortem brains of cancer patients who received bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) injections as part of their treatment. BrdU is a thymidine analog with

a half-life of 30 minutes. As a thymidine analog, it replaces thymine during DNA replication and is incorporated into newly created DNA of cells undergoing cell division (Nixon et al., 2010). Since Eriksson's work in 1998, neurogenesis in the adult human brain has been repeatedly verified with its existence no longer in doubt (Aberg et al., 2005; Laplagne et al., 2007; Nixon et al., 2008).

While disagreement surrounds whether neurogenesis occurs throughout the entire adult brain, there are two areas of the brain that clearly demonstrate neurogenesis: the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus and the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricles (Aberg et al., 2005). Neural stem cells (NSC) are cells in the brain that are capable of replication in order to create new daughter cells with the potential to become either neurons or glial cells (Zhao et al., 2008). While NSCs are located throughout the brain, it is likely that there are microenvironments created within the SGZ and the SVZ that permit neurogenesis. Researchers point to glial cells, specifically astrocytes, as the primary creator of the microenvironment (Morrison & Spradling, 2008). Though it clearly occurs in both regions, the processes of neurogenesis in the SGZ and the SVZ differ from each other in a number of ways, such as types of NSCs, migration distance, and ultimate function (Zhao et al., 2008). *Neurogenic Regions* 

Cells born in the SVZ originate from the lateral ventricles and migrate large distances through the rostral migratory stream before being incorporated into the olfactory bulb circuitry (Zhao et al., 2008). The new neurons in the SVZ will become similar to mature olfactory bulb neurons in structure and function at close to 4 weeks of age (Zhao et al., 2008). These neurons will first develop functional gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors, then the cells will begin to develop dendrites and glutamate receptors, with all of these events occurring within the

first 2 weeks of their birth (Zhao et al., 2008). According to research, a greater variety of olfactory experiences positively impacts cell survival and integration in the olfactory bulb, while an environment that is deprived of many different odors decreases cell survival (Alonso et al., 2006). Moreover, exposure to a large variety of odors alone is not enough to increase neurogenesis. Olfactory learning, such as an odor discrimination task, is a critical component that enhances cell survival (Alonso et al., 2006) and dendritic arborization (Zhao et al., 2008).

Neurons born in the SGZ move a much shorter distance compared to the SVZ. In this area, cells are born in the SGZ of the dentate gyrus and migrate inward into the granule cell layer of the hippocampus (Zhao et al., 2008). The maturation of new neurons can be determined by examining how the neurons behave when exposed to various neurotransmitters or stimuli, as compared to pre-existing neurons. Newly born neurons of the SGZ generally resemble mature neurons after 2-4 weeks (Zhao et al., 2008). New neurons of the SGZ at first show a depolarizing response when in contact with GABA, but after several weeks, begin to behave more like mature neurons and hyperpolarize in response to GABA (Zhao et al., 2008). At 4 weeks of age, neurons of the SGZ are similar to existing neurons of the granule layer, but continue to develop and can still become differentially activated by experience related influences (Kee et al., 2007). While neurons can take more than 6 weeks to fully mature, survival and integration into the existing neural circuitry is generally determined within the first 3 or 4 weeks (Zhao et al., 2008). Kee and colleagues (2007) demonstrated that as neurons mature they become more activated in response to hippocampal-dependent learning, such as spatial memory, compared to pre-existing neurons. They used a marker of neuronal activity, c-fos, in conjunction with BrdU to determine that at 6 to 8 weeks of age, these neurons become much more likely than mature neurons to become incorporated into spatial memory networks.

### Hippocampal dependent learning tasks

The hippocampus plays a critical role in the encoding of memories, and as such investigations were conducted into the function of hippocampal neurogenesis (Bruel-Jungerman, Rampon, & Laroche, 2007). Neurogenesis appears to influence many tasks that rely on the hippocampus, such as contextual fear conditioning, the Morris water maze (MWM), and trace eye-blink conditioning (Balu & Lucki, 2009). It is possible that neurogenesis may play a role in most hippocampal dependent functions (Zhao et al., 2008). Furthermore, factors such as environmental enrichment and exercise, which improve performance on these tasks, also increase neurogenesis in the hippocampus (Balu & Lucki, 2009). In addition, factors that decrease neurogenesis also appear to decrease performance on these hippocampal-dependent learning tasks (Balu & Lucki, 2009). Positive correlations between basal levels of neurogenesis and MWM performance provide additional support that neurogenesis plays an important role in hippocampal functioning (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2007). This indicates that neurogenesis as a whole affects these memory tasks. Many of the underlying mechanisms of neurogenesis remain unknown (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2007). A variety of experimental methods have been used to alter neurogenesis to determine how neurogenesis influences hippocampal-dependent learning (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2007). One such protocol is the use of irradiation, where x-ray irradiation is focused at the hippocampus. While this procedure reduces neurogenesis, the effects may be more widespread, leading to changes in performances from damage to surrounding areas (Zhao et al., 2008). Other protocols have selectively destroyed the NSCs through non-invasive genetic approaches. The genetic modification method appears to impair contextual fear conditioning, but have no effect on spatial memory (Balu & Lucki, 2009). In a third model, which involved the ablation of nestin positive neural precursors, led to a deficit in spatial

learning and memory (Balu & Lucki, 2009). It is likely that each method of interference of neurogenesis alters neurogenesis differently, leading to the differences in impairment (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2007).

### Ethanol

Alcohol has many acute and chronic behavioral effects. Acute effects of alcohol include disturbances of motor control, poor decision-making, and even unconsciousness in larger administered doses (Van Skike et al., 2010). Chronic effects include damage to almost every body system and organ, with potential for developing an alcohol use disorder (Novier et al., 2013). An alcohol use disorder as defined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) 5 is "a problematic pattern of alcohol use leading to clinically significant impairment or dis-tress" (p. 490). Many of the behaviors outlined in the DSM 5 are related to inability to stop alcohol use, consuming large quantities of alcohol, and general negative effects on overall life quality. Long-term effects of ethanol also include various cognitive deficits, many of which are functions of the hippocampus, such as decreases in spatial memory, declarative memory, and impulsivity (Nixon, Pauly, & Hayes, 2011).

### Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics

In general, ethanol is consumed by drinking alcoholic beverages. Once consumed, the stomach and upper intestines rapidly absorb ethanol. Ethanol crosses membranes in the body quite readily, entering the brain as well as most other tissues (Mumenthaler, Taylor, O'Hara, & Yesavage, 1999). Ethanol is known to have overall inhibitory effects on the brain (Criswell et al., 2003). Ethanol exerts its influence on the brain through changes in the functioning of various types of neurotransmitters and receptors. Researchers have implicated glutamate and GABA as the major neurotransmitters that are responsible for the cognitive and behavioral effects of

ethanol. However, ethanol is also able to influence dopamine, serotonin, and other various neurotransmitters (Cosgrove et. al., 2014; Hosp, Nolan, & Luft, 2015; Roberto et al., 2004). GABA is believed to be the primary cause of the neural inhibition (Cosgrove, et. al., 2014). The inhibition produced by ethanol may be restricted to only some brain regions, such as the limbic system (Roberto et al., 2004). It is believed that this neural inhibition of the various structures in the limbic system results in effects such as reduction in motor control, sedation, and impaired cognition (Novier et al., 2013). Furthermore, the neurotransmitters affected by ethanol play important roles in neurogenesis such as cell maturation (Zhao et al., 2008).

A variety of ethanol administration protocols have been developed to model various forms of ethanol intake such as social, light, and heavy use. When examining effects of high ethanol intake, animals will generally not voluntarily consume enough ethanol to reach blood ethanol levels equivalent to those often seen in human drinkers (Meinhardt & Sommer, 2015). Therefore, some researchers began using a forced administration binge model, which is able to reliably reach desired levels of blood ethanol. One major difference between humans and rats is metabolic rate. In general, rats have a faster metabolism than humans (Meinhardt & Sommer, 2015). To reach clinically relevant levels of blood alcohol that are representative of those in humans, rats must be given higher amounts of alcohol per unit of body weight, which in general is around 9 to 10 g/kg/day ethanol (25% w/v) (Crews, Braun, Hoplight, Switzer, & Knapp, 2000).

### Alcohol and neurogenesis

Studies that have employed a binge model of ethanol use similar to Majchrowicz (1975) generally find consistent results in relation to neurogenesis. Specifically, it has been found that the number of cells going through apoptosis, as evidenced by amino cupric silver stain, peaks

during the final day of a 4-day binge procedure (Crews & Nixon, 2009). Next, the number of cells going through apoptosis decreases over the course of approximately a week (Crews & Nixon, 2009). Generally, once committed to cell death, it can take from 1 to 3 days for the cell to fully die (Switzer III, 2000). However, during the first week of abstinence, there are two major bursts in neurogenesis. The first burst of neurogenesis occurs on the second day and is thought to be an increase in proliferation of microglia (Nixon et al., 2008). The second burst occurs at approximately the seventh day post ethanol binge. The second burst of neurogenesis consists of an increase of proliferation of neurons within the SGZ (Nixon et al., 2008). This burst of neurogenesis occurs as glia remove the materials left from binge-associated cell death (Crews & Nixon, 2009). As stated above, glial cells may be responsible for the promotion of adult neurogenesis by creating microenvironments (Zhao et al., 2008). Thus, it is possible that ethanol disrupts the microenvironments. During abstinence, the glial cells recreate the microenvironments, which leads to the later burst in neuron production (Crews & Nixon, 2009).

GABA has been proposed to be one of the major neurotransmitters that is influenced by ethanol to produce changes in neurogenesis (Nixon et al., 2011). GABA is believed to have a direct influence on differentiation of certain NSCs within the hippocampus. Research conducted by Tozuka and colleagues (2005) demonstrated that GABA can cause some NSCs to produce more NeuroD, a neuronal differentiation factor. In their study, they conducted several *in vivo* manipulations of the two major types of NSCs contained in the SGZ. These NSCs are called type one and type two. Type two NSCs were influenced by the presence of GABA to depolarize and lead to an action potential. The cells involved did not respond in a similar manner to other neurotransmitters, implicating changes in GABA functioning as one of the mechanisms by which ethanol influences neurogenesis (Tozuka et al., 2005).

Research conducted by Roberto et al. (2004) suggests that ethanol tends to inhibit the activity of glutamate, an excitatory neurotransmitter at both N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) and non-NMDA receptors. Research has yielded mixed results on whether the inhibition of glutamate exists in specific brain regions like parts of the limbic system and basal ganglia, or whether this inhibition occurs throughout the brain (Criswell at al., 2003). While it is uncertain how widespread the effects of ethanol are, it is certain that proliferation within the hippocampus is affected. The role of glutamate in neurogenesis appears to be more indirect. For example, neurogenesis can occur even when NCSs do not have functional NMDA receptors; however, overall levels of NMDA in the brain appear to be inversely correlated with proliferation in the SGZ (Jang et al., 2008). The exact mechanisms that mediate the role of NMDA in proliferation have yet to be determined.

### Differences between adults and adolescents

Crews and colleagues (2000) assert that ethanol can impact adults and adolescents differently. There have been inconsistent results as to the extent of damage to the brain of adults who are diagnosed with alcohol use disorder; however, research on adolescents with an alcohol use disorder has shown more consistently that ethanol use leads to hippocampal degeneration (Nixon et al., 2010). There is evidence that adolescents are particularly susceptible to changes in neurogenesis, which may spill over into decreases in hippocampal-dependent learning and memory tasks (Nixon et al., 2010).

Furthermore, ethanol dose-dependently decreases proliferation of neural stem cells (NSCs) in adolescent animals (Crews et al., 2009). According to Hargraves et al. (2009), adolescents are susceptible to decreases in protein production from ethanol use, but this effect is generally absent in adults. Some of the proteins affected are involved in the cell cycle as well as

synaptic functioning, and decreases in these proteins may lead to neurodegeneration. There are also differences in behavioral reactions to ethanol consumption. For example, while adolescents are less susceptible to reductions in motor control than adults, they are more susceptible to decreases in body temperature and hippocampal-related synaptic activity (Rezvani & Levin, 2004).

### Nicotine

### Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics

Nicotine is the primary psychoactive substance in tobacco (O'Dell et al., 2013). Nicotine is easily absorbed into the body through a number of ways: skin, inhalation, gastrointestinal tract, and mucus membranes (Yildiz, 2004). While there are many other ways to consume nicotine, such as gum, dermal patches, and electronic cigarettes, nicotine is overwhelmingly consumed through the use of tobacco products, with cigarettes and cigars being the two most common (NSDUH, 2013). Chronic use of tobacco products has been associated with various health problems including cardiovascular disease, ulcers, and some types of cancer (Hurley, Taylor, & Tizabi, 2012).

Almost all the psychoactive properties of nicotine are carried out on a specific type of receptor. The nicotinic family of receptors are subtypes of acetylcholine receptors (O'Dell et al., 2013). These types of receptors are found in both the central nervous system (CNS) and the peripheral nervous system (PNS) (Gotti et al., 2009). Nicotinic receptors exert considerable influence over other neurotransmitter systems within the brain via direct interactions (Hurley et al., 2012). Nicotinic receptors have the potential to facilitate the release of several different neurotransmitters, such as dopamine, glutamate, acetylcholine, and serotonin. Of importance to the proposed research is the  $\alpha$ 7 subtype of nicotinic receptor. This receptor subtype is highly

distributed throughout the hippocampus, and believed to be important for neuronal growth, survival, and certain cognitive processes such as attention (Hurley et al., 2012). A key feature of nicotine dependence is an upregulation of nicotinic receptors; therefore, nicotine is believed to have an influence on hippocampal neurogenesis. Changes in nicotinic binding can even be seen after about a month of abstinence in adolescent animals (Slotkin, 2002). The activation of the  $\alpha$ 7 subtype of receptor may explain results observed by Abrous et al. (2002), where hippocampal neurogenesis was decreased, but neurogenesis of the SVZ was unaffected following an intermittent nicotine self-administration protocol. In their study, it appeared that the newborn neurons were unable to establish essential connections, leading to their death.

Furthermore, nicotine exerts several different effects on cognitive function (Hurley et al., 2012). A recent study by Grundey et al. (2015) has suggested that a potential acute effect of nicotine includes some cognitive enhancement; however, according to their results this enhancement is generally limited to people who are considered smokers. In addition, the smokers used in the study showed cognitive impairments from nicotine abstinence. In animal studies, it appears that the cognitive enhancement from nicotine is task-dependent, improving performance on some measures while decreasing task performance on others (Slotkin, 2002). Additionally, Abrous and collegues (2002) have stated that regular smokers who go through withdrawal have a high level of cognitive impairment. Nicotine has been reported to improve cognitive function in some cases (Grundey et al., 2015) and produced impairments in other reports (Ijomone & Nwoha, 2015). In some instances researchers have even stated that some nicotinic receptor subtypes are able to serve as a neuroprotectant when activated (Hurley et al., 2012). Two potential reasons for conflicting results may be due to differences in dosages and routes of administration. An experiment by Scerri, Stewart, Breen, and Balfour (2006) found that

differences in dosages of nicotine had different effects on spatial memory. In their study, researchers assessed performance on the MWM and the number of proliferating cells of the SGZ was also measured. Animals that received higher doses of nicotine (4 mg/kg/day) had reduced neurogenesis and longer trial times, when compared to a low dose group (0.25 mg/kg/day). A study by Ijomone and Nwoha (2015) found that similar doses of nicotine produced decreases in neurogenesis. It should be noted that in the first study animals were administered nicotine continuously during testing via a mini-osmotic pump, while animals in the second study were given subcutaneous injections.

Research by Slotkin (2002) also suggested that nicotine may impact regions of the brain differently. For example, nicotine reduces norepinephrine activity in the hippocampus, and increases catecholaminergic activity in the midbrain. Nicotine may even act as a teratogen (Slotkin, 2002). Many researchers have concluded that nicotine is damaging to growing neurons and it has the potential to influence cell differentiation, leading to long-term changes to developing neurons. According to Slotkin (2002), nicotine is able to negatively impact brain development in adolescent animals.

### Differences between adults and adolescents

Often adult nicotine users who smoke cigarettes began as adolescents (Vieira-Brock et al., 2013). Researchers have concluded that adolescents are more susceptible to the development of nicotine addiction (Kandel & Chen, 2000). Some of the key features of nicotine dependence, observed in both adults and adolescents, include increased motivation to consume nicotine and negative emotional states during withdrawal and abstinence, (Cohen et al., 2015). It is believed that adolescents are more resistant to some of the negative effects associated with nicotine use and withdrawal. Some of these effects include decreases in brain reward functioning and fewer

somatic signs of nicotine withdrawal (O'Dell et al., 2006). Research has also suggested that adolescent animals metabolize nicotine more quickly than adults, and it is believed that development of nicotine dependence is positively correlated with speed of nicotine metabolism (Vieira-Brock et al., 2013).

The decreased sensitivity to negative effects associated with use and withdrawal likely contributes to increased response of adolescent animals observed in place conditioning and taste aversion studies when compared to adult animals (Torres et al., 2008). The place conditioning task, as done by Torres and colleagues (2008), consists of a 2-day procedure that is repeated several times. After receiving drug the animal is placed into one of the chambers for a period of time. Then, on the next day the animal is not given drug and is placed into a different chamber for a period of time. After repeating this several times the animals form an association between being receiving drug and one of the chambers. Then, the two chambers are placed beside each other with an opening in between. The animals are placed into the middle of the two chambers and then the amount of time each animal spends in each chamber is measured. The longer an animal spends in the chamber associated with drug use, the more rewarding the drug is believed to be for that animal. Taste aversion studies also rely on associations between drug use and the environment. In this procedure, an animal is given drug and then immediately given access to a desirable solution, such as one that contains glucose. This pairing of drug and solution is performed repeatedly. The amount of solution consumed when measuring is the dependent variable, usually performed when not given drug. It is believed that the less solution that is consumed, the more aversive the drug is to the animal (Sanchis-Segura & Spanagel, 2006).

### Interaction between ethanol and nicotine

Often both ethanol and nicotine are consumed together, with 53% of people 12 or older who are heavy drinkers also smoking in the past month, compared to the general population with only 15% smoking in the past month (SAMHSA, 2013). Additionally, 65% of current cigarette smokers reported alcohol use in the past month, compared to 48% who did not use cigarettes in the past month (SAMHSA, 2013). The interactions between ethanol and nicotine are poorly understood (Ceballos, 2006). Interactions between ethanol and nicotine may lead to increased use of both substances (Oliveira-da-Silva et al., 2010). When ethanol and nicotine are taken together, the two drugs may synergistically influence each other, increasing their potency (Clark & Little, 2004). It is likely that this effect is due to each drug altering the metabolism of the other (Hurley et al., 2012). It has also been proposed that these drugs may interact in a way that suppresses the adverse effects of either drug alone (Ceballos, 2006). Additionally, nicotine has been reported to have neuroprotective properties (Hurley et al., 2012). The neuroprotective properties of nicotine may also play a role in how these two drugs interact (Hurley et al., 2012). Work by Gomez et al. (2015) has reported that animals that received a co-administration of alcohol and tobacco smoke, twice a day for 29 days, had decreases in neurogenesis. This study also found that when administered together, animals had a higher level of cotinine, a metabolite of nicotine in their blood plasma. It has also been implied that differences between short-term and long-term administration paradigms may lead to either cross-tolerance or sensitization (Hurley et al., 2012). A study conducted by Jang and colleagues (2002) found that when ethanol and nicotine were taken together, the number of BrdU-positive cells in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus was decreased compared to control animals. The decrease in neurogenesis was found to be greater in magnitude than the decreases in neurogenesis that were observed in

animals that received either drug alone. This finding lends support to the conclusion that when ethanol and nicotine are taken together, they lead to a greater decrease in neurogenesis overall.

At the time of writing this article, there are only a handful of published research papers that attempt to examine the interaction between ethanol and nicotine in relation to their impact on neurogenesis. Additionally, the interactions mentioned above may only represent a portion of all the interactions between the two drugs. This study will attempt to help shed some more light on the issue.

### **Current Study**

In the current study, neural cell proliferation was assessed in adolescent Sprague-Dawley rats. The animals used in this study were subjected to a dual administration procedure of ethanol and nicotine. The animals then went through a period of protracted abstinence to investigate potential long-term changes in proliferation in the subgranular zone of the hippocampal dentate gyrus. Finally, proliferation in the subgranular zone was assessed from slices of brain tissue, using an immunohistochemical staining procedure for Ki67. Ki67 is a protein found in cells that are going through active phases of the cell cycle, including G1, S, G2, and M phases (Scholzen, & Gerdes, 2000; Gerdes et al., 1984). The number of Ki67 positives cells was measured using cell profile counting with data being expressed as Ki67+ cells/section +/- SD.

One of the previous experiments in our lab has found evidence that adolescents who received either nicotine or ethanol had suppressed proliferation compared to control animals immediately following drug administration (Hayes lab, unpublished results). While the animals used in the previous study had a trend towards an additive interaction between ethanol and nicotine on proliferation suppression, the results failed to reach statistical significance. A more recent analysis of the MWM data has revealed substantial behavioral implications for dual drug

administration. These animals demonstrated that co-administration of both ethanol and nicotine interacted to have an additive effect, which impaired their ability to perform a test of spatial memory to a greater degree than either drug alone. Performance on the MWM is a hippocampaldependent learning task and is heavily influenced by changes in hippocampal neurogenesis (Balu & Lucki, 2009). This analysis also revealed that ethanol alone produced decreases in acquisition performance on the MWM task, as expected. Thus, the behavioral results suggest that the combination of ethanol and nicotine is leading to a greater degree of suppression of proliferation within the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus.

### Design

The research design was a 2 (ethanol or dextrose) x 2 (nicotine or saline) betweensubjects design, with an additional control group, designed to address potential changes in cell proliferation due directly to the stress associated with the administration of a liquid diet as well as injections. Adolescent animals (post-natal day 38) were randomly assigned to 1 of 5 conditions: ethanol and nicotine, ethanol and saline injection, dextrose gavage and nicotine, dextrose gavage and saline injection, or to an unhandled control group. Animals in the unhandled control group were yoked to the dextrose gavage. The unhandled animals received an equivalent volume of dextrose containing diet; however, these animals had free access to the diet in a water bottle at their home cage. After drug administration animals went through a withdrawal period, during which time the animals were exposed to the MWM. Following behavioral testing, tissue samples were collected and cell proliferation was measured.

### Method

### Animals

Male, adolescent (post-natal day 38), Sprague-Dawley rats were used in this study (N = 26). Animals weighed an average of 105.47g at the beginning of the study. All animals were acquired from Charles River laboratories (Raleigh, NC) and either bred in-house or used after becoming acclimated to the lab. Rats were kept in individual hanging cages in a humidity and temperature controlled environment at approximately 23 °C, with a 12-hour light dark cycle (lights on at 7 a.m.). Except during ethanol administration and during behavioral testing sessions, animals had ad libitum access to food and water, and body weights were monitored. All procedures were approved by Radford Institutional Animal care and Use Committee (IACUC) and conducted in accordance with National Institute of Health (NIH) guidelines. Animals were assigned to groups randomly; however, littermates were not assigned to the same experimental groups. Animals were weighed daily except for 2 days immediately following the end of drug administration, 2 days right before behavioral testing, and after completion of behavioral testing. A timeline of events can be seen in Figure 1.



*Figure 1*. Timeline of study events. Nicotine or saline was administered (s.c.) for the first 10 days of the experiment. Ethanol or control diet was administered on the final 4 days of nicotine administration. After 5 days, behavioral testing (MWM) began and lasted 12 days. Tissue was collected from animals on the day following the end of behavioral testing.

### **Drug Administration and Behavioral Testing**

### Nicotine administration

Animals were given subcutaneous injections of nicotine (0.3 mg/kg) every 8 hours for 10 days (3 p.m., 11 p.m., and 7 a.m.). Administration of this dose reflects the levels observed during light smoking (Scerri et al., 2006). Control animals received equal volumes of 0.9% saline solution.

### Ethanol administration

On the final 4 days of nicotine injections, ethanol (25% w/v in nutritionally complete diet or isocaloric dextrose diet) was administered via oral gavage every 8 hours starting at 3 p.m. The oral gavage procedure was performed with an oral intubation needle with a bulbous end. This is a modified procedure from an original model, which is used to emulate high levels of ethanol consumption (Majchrowicz, 1975; Crews & Nixon, 2009). The first dose is 5 g/kg and then adjusting the dose of ethanol administered depending on the animal's level of intoxication (Crews & Nixon, 2004). Behavioral scoring was used to determine level of intoxication and subsequent doses were administered in order to titrate a high BAC (Nixon & Crews, 2004). Animals were randomly assigned to either ethanol (25% w/v in nutritionally complete diet) or isocaloric dextrose diet.

### Withdrawal

At the end of day 10, drug administration ceased and the animals experienced withdrawal from both of drugs simultaneously. The withdrawal from nicotine was not anticipated to be severe due to the dose selected. However, the withdrawal from ethanol warranted observation beginning 10 hours after the final dose and continuing for 18 hours. Independent observers monitored animals for a range of behaviors associated with withdrawal, such as tail twitches,

spasms, general tremors, and convulsion. The animals were observed for the first 30 minutes of each hour. The scale used ranged from 0 being still intoxicated or no withdrawal behaviors to 4 being death from withdrawal.

### Memory assessment

The MWM is a test of spatial memory, working memory, and reversal learning. Animals began the MWM 5 days after the end of the drug administration procedure. A plastic pool was filled with water and contained non-toxic white paint, which made the water opaque. There was a platform placed in the water in one of four quadrants depending on task. Visual cues hung from each wall, which were held constant throughout the experiment. Spatial memory was assessed during three various phases in the MWM: acquisition, reversal learning, and spatial working memory.

The first test the animals performed is the acquisition task. This analizes the animal's overall spatial memory. The platform was located in the south west quadrant for the duration of the task. Animals were tested for 5 consecutive days. The animals were placed in different starting quadrants that had been predetermined for the day and were measured for distance and time to reach the platform. Reversal learning was assessed on the day after the completion of the acquisition task. In this test the platform was moved to the north east corner of the pool. Each animal performed four trials to determine how quickly animals change strategies to find the platform. Finally, spatial working memory was tested via two trials per day for 5 days. During this task animals first completed a sample trial and then a test trial. The difference in time between reaching the platform in the first trial and the second trial was measured in this task. The platform was located in different quadrants for each day during this task.

### **Analysis of Cell Proliferation**

### Tissue preparation

Following completion of behavioral tasks, tissue samples were prepared for collection via transcardial perfusion. The procedure was performed on animals deeply anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (Fatal Plus, Vortech Pharmaceuticals, Dearborn, MI; 117 ml/kg). Perfusions were performed using a gravity flow perfusion system. The animals were first perfused with 0.1M phosphate buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.4) followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA; pH 7.4). The PBS and the PFA were prepared the day before and were refrigerated overnight at 4°C. Following blood removal and initial tissue fixation, brains were extracted and post-fixed in 4% PFA for 24 hours before being transferred to PBS for storage at 4°C until slicing. Slices consisted of coronal sections of tissue 50 microns in width. The sections spanned the entire rostral-caudal distance of limbic and associated cortices starting at approximately 0.8 mm anterior bregma to 7.6 mm posterior bregma (Paxinos & Watson, 2012) and were sectioned using a vibrating microtome (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA). The samples were submerged in cryoprotectant (ethylene glycol and glycerol), which prevents crystallization, and stored in a freezer (-20 °C) until mounting and immunohistochemical staining.

#### *Immunohistochemistry*

Tissue samples were first washed in tris buffered saline (TBS) to remove any residual cryoprotectant followed by a 0.6% peroxide bath for 30 minutes to block endogenous peroxidases. After the peroxide incubation, the samples were once again washed with TBS three times, and then subjected to antigen retrieval procedures using 1x sodium citrate incubation at 65°C for 1 hour. Following another wash in TBS, the samples were incubated in a blocking solution containing 10% Triton-X 100 and normal horse serum in TBS for 30 minutes. The

samples were submerged in 1:200 mouse anti-Ki67 antibodies (Dako North America, Inc., Carpinteria, CA) at room temperature for 96 hours. After 3 rinses in the blocking solution, the tissue was incubated in horse anti-mouse secondary antibody solution (Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA; in TBS with 3% normal horse serum) for an hour. Three washes in TBS occurred and were followed by samples being incubated in avidin-biotin complex (ABC) solution. Then peroxidase detection was conducted using 3,3'-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB) as a chromogen with a wash step in between the incubation in ABC and the peroxidase detection. After three more rinses in TBS, the samples were stored before final processing, which included being mounted on slides, 24 hours of time to dry at room temperature, and counterstaining to visualize neuroanatomic landmarks using a typical cresyl violet staining procedure.

Counterstaining began by submerging slides in progressively weaker solutions of ethanol for 30 seconds each: 100%, 95%, 70%, and 50%. Then the slides were submerged in distilled water for 30 seconds, followed by 3 minutes in cresyl violet solution. Next, slides were submerged in progressively stronger solutions of ethanol for 30 seconds each: 50%, 95%, and 100%. Finally, the slides were placed into xylenes for 5 minutes, before being cover slipped. *Quantification* 

Overall estimates of Ki67 labeled cells were calculated using a cell profile counting procedure outlined by Noori and Casimir (2011). Profile counting methodology was conducted using a BX43 Microscope (Olympus, Center Valley, PA) under a 100x oil immersion objective. All slides were masked for quantification so that the researcher was blind to experimental condition during counting. Intact coronal slices were examined throughout the entire rostral to caudal extent of the dorsal hippocampus. Specifically, every eighth coronal slice of the hippocampus was examined for Ki67+ cells and cell clusters. The number of cells expressing

Ki67 was quantified in each slice (approximately 6-8 per brain) and averaged to yield overall Ki-67+ cells/section per hippocampus. Ki67 is produced by cells that are in all active cell cycle phases (Scholzen, & Gerdes, 2000). Ki67 has advantages over other staining methods such as proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA). Because proliferating cell nuclear antigen can be sensitive to fixation procedures, cells in resting phase sometimes test positive (Scholzen & Gerdes, 2000). Additionally, Ki67 staining may be applied to tissue post fixation, whereas Bromo-deoxy-Uridine (BrdU) must be injected or consumed orally before termination of the animal. Ki67 is also seen in the G1, S, G2, and M phases, whereas BrdU is only observed in cells that are currently dividing in S phase (Kee et al., 2002). Ki67 also has support from the clinical setting where it is often used as a prognostic tool for cancer (Borre et al., 1989).

### Results

### **Body Weights**

As stated by Zainuddin and Thuret (2012), nutrition directly influences hippocampal neurogenesis. Thus, body weights were taken throughout the experiment to determine if any differences in proliferation at the end could be attributed to differences in nutrition. A series of 2 (ethanol or dextrose) x 2 (nicotine or saline) analysis of variances (ANOVAs) were conducted. Body weight information is presented in Figure 2. Differences in body weights began to appear by the end of drug administration due to ethanol administration. Throughout the experiment no differences in body weight were detected between the placebo control group and the unhandled control group. The weights of animals that received ethanol were significantly lower than animals that received dextrose control diet, F(1, 18) = 7.02, p = .016. This trend continued 2 days post binge with ethanol receiving animals weighing significantly less than animals that received dextrose control diet, F(1, 18) = 11.88, p = .003. Differences in body weights were still apparent at the beginning of behavioral testing, where animals that received ethanol weighed significantly less than animals that received dextrose control diet, F(1, 18) = 8.23, p = .01. Weight differences disappeared by the end of behavioral testing such that the weight of ethanol receiving animals was not significantly different from animals that received dextrose diet, F(1, 18) = 2.80, p = .11.



*Figure 2.* A series of 2 (ethanol or dextrose) x 2 (nicotine or saline) ANOVAs were conducted to determine if there were differences in body weight (in grams) between the groups of animals at various timepoints of interest during the study ( $\pm$ S.D.). Differences in body weights due to ethanol began to appear by the end of drug administration; however, differences in body weight disappeared by the end of behavioral testing. \**p* < 0.05. \*\**p* < 0.01.

### Ethanol dose

High levels of ethanol exposure can produce decreases in cell proliferation (Crews et al., 2009). Therefore, an independent samples t-test was conducted to determine if there were differences in doses of ethanol between the ethanol/nicotine and ethanol/saline groups. The analysis revealed that there were no differences in the amount of ethanol received by animals receiving nicotine (M = 12.17, SD = 0.34) and those receiving saline (M = 12.13, SD = 0.61), t(10) = .15, p = .89.

### Withdrawal

Independent samples t-tests were conducted to determine if there were differences in withdrawal severity between animals that received ethanol and nicotine versus those receiving ethanol alone. Higher withdrawal scores were associated with more severe withdrawal behaviors. There were similar levels in the average severity of withdrawal for dual drug exposed animals (M = 0.34, SD = 0.30) and those administered ethanol alone (M = 0.50, SD = 0.25), t(10) = -0.99, p = .35. However, animals that received ethanol alone (M = 2.70, SD = 0.70) had significantly worse peak withdrawal behaviors when compared to animals that received ethanol and nicotine (M = 1.90, SD = 0.49), t(10) = -2.30, p = .045. See Figure 3 for means and standard deviations of withdrawal behavior scores of peak and average withdrawal scores.



*Figure 3.* Withdrawal behaviors. Independent samples t-tests revealed a similar average withdrawal behavior score for animals that received ethanol only and animals receiving ethanol and nicotine ( $\pm$ S.D.). Higher withdrawal scores were associated with more severe withdrawal behaviors. The average withdrawal scores in the current study were quite low; scores between 1 and 2 included behaviors such as hyperactivity, tail tremors, tail spasms, and caudal tremors. Another independent samples t-test found that animals only receiving ethanol have more severe peak withdrawal behavior scores than animals receiving ethanol and nicotine. Peak withdrawal behaviors between 2.6 and 3.2 include general tremors, head tremors, and induced running. \*p < 0.05.

Due to differences emerging in average peak withdrawal, a series of ANOVAs were run to further explore differences in peak withdrawal behavior between animals receiving ethanol only and animals receiving ethanol and nicotine. Individual timepoints were examined. There was a significant difference between the groups at 12 a.m. where animals receiving ethanol only showed greater peak withdrawal scores (M = 1.29, SD = 0.95) compared to animals receiving ethanol and nicotine (M = 1.90, SD = 0.49), F(1, 13) = 5.08, p = .042; partial  $\eta^2 = .28$ . No other timepoint reached statistical significance, but several timepoints had moderate effect sizes: 8 p.m. (partial  $\eta^2 = .09$ ), 10 p.m. (partial  $\eta^2 = .11$ ), 1 a.m. (partial  $\eta^2 = .10$ ), 5 a.m. (partial  $\eta^2 = .08$ ), 6 a.m. (partial  $\eta^2 = .08$ ), 7 a.m. (partial  $\eta^2 = .08$ ) See Figure 4 for the peak withdrawal scores over time. Means and standard deviations for withdrawal scores at various timepoints are reported in Table 1.



*Figure 4*. Withdrawal behaviors over the course of withdrawal. When additional analyses were run, the 12 a.m. timepoint was the only timepoint to reach statistical significance. However, 8 p.m., 10 p.m., 1 a.m., 5 a.m., 6 a.m., and 7 a.m. had moderate effect sizes.

	Ethanol + Nicotine		Ethanol	
	М	SD	М	SD
p.m.	0.40	0.74	0.00	0.00
5 p.m.	0.30	0.85	0.31	0.83
' p.m.	0.60	1.11	0.80	1.03
p.m.	0.50	0.95	1.11	1.11
) p.m.	0.80	1.13	1.03	0.81
.0 p.m.	0.60	1.11	1.29	1.01
1 p.m.	0.90	1.24	1.29	1.30
.2 a.m.	0.35	0.65	1.29	0.95
a.m.	0.75	0.81	1.37	1.16
a.m.	0.80	0.89	1.00	1.38
a.m.	0.55	0.76	0.77	0.74
a.m.	0.18	0.50	0.60	0.75
a.m.	0.00	0.00	0.20	0.53
ia.m.	0.00	0.00	0.23	0.60
' a.m.	0.00	0.00	0.14	0.38
a.m.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
a.m.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
0 a.m.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

*Table 1.* Means and standard deviations of withdrawal scores for animals in the ethanol group and animals in the ethanol and nicotine group at withdrawal timepoints.

### **Behavioral effects**

During the acquisition phase of the MWM, a main effect of ethanol was observed where animals that received ethanol took significantly longer (M = 22.67, SE = 1.39) to reach the hidden platform per trial than animals that did not receive ethanol (M = 17.29, SE = 1.53), F(1, 18) = 6.80, p = .018. There was no main effect of nicotine on time taken to reach the hidden platform, F(1, 18) = 1.90, p = .18). Additionally, an interaction occurred where animals that received both ethanol and nicotine (M = 26.69, SE = 1.97) took longer to find the hidden platform than animals that only received ethanol (M = 18.66, SD = 1.97), F(1, 18) = 6.28, p = .022. A similar pattern of results was observed for the distance the animals swam to find the hidden platform.

### Ki67+ cells/section

A 2 (ethanol or dextrose) x 2 (nicotine or saline) ANOVA was conducted using the average number of Ki67+ cells/section as the dependent variable to assess cell proliferation (see Figure 5). The analysis revealed a main effect of ethanol, F(1, 18) = 13.98, p = .002, where animals that received ethanol had a significantly fewer Ki67+ cells/section (M = 8.91, SD = 5.19) than animals that received dextrose containing control diet (M = 25.33, SD = 13.25). Nicotine did not significantly affect the average number of Ki67+ cells/section, F(1, 18) = 0.01, p = .92. Additionally, the interaction between ethanol and nicotine did not significantly influence the average number of Ki67+ cells/section, F(1, 18) = 0.51, p = .49.



*Figure 5.* Mean number of Ki67+ hippocampal cells/section ( $\pm$ S.D.). Animals that received ethanol had significantly fewer Ki67+ cells/section on average than animals that received control dextrose containing diet. Nicotine did not significantly affect mean Ki67+ cells/section and there was no significant interaction effect.

A separate analysis was conducted to determine if stress caused by subcutaneous injections and oral gavage procedures lead to decreases in cell proliferation. Stress is known to cause decreases in neural cell proliferation (Mirescu & Gould, 2006). It is also known that the oral gavage procedure may cause anxiety in rats (Boschen et al., 2015). To determine if stress from administration procedures could have influenced proliferation, an independent samples t-test was performed between animals that received injections of saline and control dextrose-containing diet and unhandled animals, who were given free access to an equivalent volume of the same dextrose diet as the control animals. The analysis indicated that animals that received the dextrose gavage and saline injections (M = 24.08, SD = 15.72) did not differ from unhandled animals (M = 25.37, SD = 11.87), t(6) = -0.12 p = .93. The means and standard deviations for the two groups are shown in Figure 6.



*Figure 6*. Mean number of K67+ hippocampal cells/section (±S.D.) control vs unhandled animals. Control animals received dextrose diet gavage and saline injections and were compared to unhandled animals that had access to equivalent volumes of dextrose diet in a bottle at their home cage. An independent samples t-test revealed no significant differences in mean number of Ki67+ hippocampal cells/section between the two groups, t(6) = -0.12 p = .93.

### Discussion

The main finding of this experiment is that ethanol decreased the proliferation of neuronal cells as measured by average number of Ki67+ cells per section of hippocampal tissue following extended withdrawal. However, neither nicotine alone nor the interaction between ethanol and nicotine influenced cell proliferation during extended withdrawal. Furthermore, ethanol decreased the body weights of the animals for part of the study. Body weight was decreased from ethanol at the end of the binge through the beginning of behavioral testing, but returned to normal by the end of behavioral testing. Nicotine alone and the dual administration of nicotine and ethanol did not seem to influence body weights. Additionally, there were no differences in doses of ethanol administered to animals that received ethanol and nicotine versus receiving ethanol and saline. During the withdrawal period, previous ethanol exposure decreased performance in the MWM. Animals that had received ethanol took longer to find the hidden platform. Nicotine did not influence the time it took for animals to reach the platform. Finally, it appeared that ethanol and nicotine interacted to cause a greater deficit in MWM performance than the effects of either drug alone. The interaction between the two drugs led to animals taking a longer time to reach the platform.

### Proliferation

The current study demonstrated that after a period of extended withdrawal, proliferation of progenitor cells in the SGZ of the hippocampal dentate gyrus was suppressed. Most of the neuronal damage resulting from ethanol occurs during intoxication due to inflammation, and from interruptions in neurogenesis (Crews & Nixon, 2009). It is possible that the specific model of ethanol exposure may be an important component in determining the extent of neurological damage observed following ethanol exposure. A binge model of forced ethanol administration

was employed in the current study. Previous research using this model has concluded that cell death caused by ethanol intoxication peaks on the final day of drug administration and then begins to subside during abstinence (Crew & Nixon, 2009). Neurogenesis is suppressed for approximately two days following abstinence before increasing beyond control levels (Cews & Nixon, 2009). Morris et al. (2010a) used a binge model of ethanol exposure to show that proliferation is increased 7 days after exposure compared to control animals, via BrdU labeling. In their study, there were no significant differences at 14 days after exposure when comparing ethanol exposed animals to control animals. However, another study found that 35 days after an ethanol binge procedure, differences in the cell survival and differentiation compared to control animals were observable (McClain et al., 2014). Longer exposure periods than what was done within the current study, such as an 11-month chronic exposure procedure, have produced changes in neurogenesis lasting up to 2.5 months (Taffe et al., 2010). Various models of ethanol exposure may determine how long alterations to proliferation within the SGZ of the hippocampus are observable.

One study examined ethanol dependent adult rats, using an extended vapor exposure paradigm. Animals in the study were exposed to ethanol vapor for 17 hours per day for 8 weeks. These animals had decreased proliferation within the SGZ at the end of exposure, but proliferation returned to control values after 7 days of abstinence (Hansson et al., 2010). During ethanol administration, blood ethanol levels ranged from 150 to 300 mg/dl, which is slightly lower than the levels expected from the binge exposure paradigm. Specifically, proliferation decreased immediately after ethanol administration, and was greater than control levels at 3 days of abstinence, before returning to control levels at 7 days of abstinence. However, a trend towards decreased proliferation was observed during extended withdrawal at their next timepoint

of 21 days post-administration. In the current study, reductions in cell proliferation were also observed during protracted withdrawal at 17 days after completion of drug administration.

Another study found decreases in proliferation after a similar withdrawal period as the current study. Stevenson et al. (2009) conducted a study in which adult mice had free choice between ethanol (10% v/v) and water in drinking bottles, and showed decreased cell proliferation within the SGZ at 14 days of abstinence compared to control animals. Animals had access to ethanol for a period of 4 weeks and consumed approximately 17.8 g/kg/day of ethanol, leading to average blood ethanol concentrations of 112.8 mg/dl, expectedly much lower than in a binge model. Then the animals went through a period of abstinence of 0, 2, or 14 days. While no differences in hippocampal proliferation were observed between the control animals and those with 0 or 2 days of abstinence, proliferation was significantly decreased at day 14 of abstinence. The results of this study provide supporting evidence to what was observed in the current study; ethanol can influence proliferation during extended withdrawal, even if proliferation returns to or above control levels during shorter withdrawal periods.

Nicotine did not have an influence on neurogenesis in the present study. It was predicted that nicotine would reduce proliferation. However, the observation that nicotine did not influence proliferation is not entirely surprising, due to quite a few studies reporting differing results (Ijomone, & Nwoha, 2015; Scerri et al., 2006). The dose of nicotine selected in the current study was approximately that of light smoking in humans. In various studies, nicotine dose played a large role in the effects of nicotine on neuronal processes. While lower doses tend to produce fewer negative consequences, as the dose of nicotine increases there is a greater likelihood for adverse effects, such as altered proliferation within the subgranular zone of the hippocampus. Ijomone and Nwoha (2015) reported that there were no observable reductions in proliferation in

animals that received daily subcutaneous injection of nicotine for 28 days of 0.25 mg/kg; however, doses of both 2 mg/kg and 4 mg/kg were both able to produce decreases in hippocampal proliferation, without the inclusion of a withdrawal period. In the current study, animals received injections of 0.9 mg/kg/day for 10 days. Likely the inclusion of a withdrawal period in the current study led to a lack of differences between animals that received nicotine and those that did not. Previous research within our lab using similar doses and administration found that nicotine decreased proliferation in the SGZ. Tissue was collected at the end of drug administration without the inclusion of a withdrawal period (unpublished Hayes lab results). In the current study, animals had a withdrawal period of 17 days. Trauth et al. (2000) suggest that nicotine may influence the binding of cholinergic receptors after 12 days of withdrawal, but after 27 days of withdrawal, the binding of cholinergic receptors had returned to levels comparable to control animals. The timepoints selected in their study were based on findings in fetal studies. Studies involving fetal exposure models have demonstrated a similar time course of neural effects, although of a greater magnitude than adolescent animals (Slotkin, 2002). This indicates that adolescence may be either a separate period of vulnerability or a continuation of vulnerability to psychoactive drugs seen during the fetal period (Slotkin, 2002). The withdrawal period used in the current study is slightly longer, but comparable to the 12-day withdrawal period used by Trauth et al. (2000). As observed in the current study, nicotine may not lead to changes at the receptor level that last much longer than 12 days (Trauth et al., 2000).

Similarly, Slotkin (2002) reported an increase in the overall number of nicotinic receptors after 13 days of nicotine abstinence within the hippocampus of female animals. While this upregulation did not reach significance for male animals, a similar trend was observed. Furthermore, the trend in males completely vanished by after 27 days of abstinence; however,

female animals still had an increased number of receptors at the 27-day timepoint. While changes in neuronal function from nicotine withdrawal could be present at day 12 or 13, receptor functioning may not return to normal until between week 2 and week 3 of nicotine cessation. It is possible the effects of nicotine on proliferation may occur at similar timepoints as changes to receptor functioning, occurring shortly after cessation and not lasting much longer than 2 weeks.

Activity of the cholinergic system, according to research, seems to be necessary for proliferation within the subgranular zone of the hippocampus. Cholinergic activity is also quite important for learning and memory (Veena, Rao, & Srikmuar, 2011). Destruction of cholinergic inputs to the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus from the forebrain lead to a decrease in both short-term survival and cell proliferation in the SGZ (Mohapel et al., 2005). The researchers also discovered that administration of a cholinergic agonist, physostigmine, could increase proliferation within the SGZ to levels greater than controls. In addition, the decreases in survival and proliferation were accompanied by decreases in performance during the MWM task (Veena et al., 2011). In contrast to findings of Veena et al. (2011), nicotine did not have an influence on either proliferation or the MWM, possibly due to differences in administration protocols.

In the current study, there was not a significant interaction between ethanol and nicotine on cell proliferation within the subgranular zone of the hippocampus. In a study by Jang and colleagues (2002), animals that received both ethanol and nicotine had complex interactions on neurogenesis within the dentate gyrus. Animals that received both drugs had a decrease in proliferation that was significantly greater than the decreases observed by either drug alone. This effect did not seem to extend to cell survival. The authors also assessed apoptosis by measuring the number of transferase-mediated dUTP nick-end labeling (TUNEL) positive cells. The number of TUNEL+ cells were elevated for groups that received nicotine, ethanol, or both,

indicating an increase in cell death due to drug administration. However, there were no significant differences in TUNEL+ cells between treatment groups 3 days post-administration (Jang et al., 2002). It is possible that the interactions between the two drugs may lead to short-term changes in neurogenesis. The changes may be specific to cell proliferation, and may not lead to lasting changes, similar to what was observed in the current study.

A more recent study found that when ethanol was combined with tobacco smoke, proliferation within SGZ was decreased in the group receiving ethanol alone and the group receiving both ethanol and tobacco smoke. Tobacco smoke alone did not seem to decrease proliferation compared to the control group (Gomez et al., 2015). Research by Oliveira-da-Silva et al. (2010) examined the effects of combined exposure of ethanol and nicotine in several different regions of the hippocampus at 2 days and 5 days of abstinence. In their study, they found an increase in TUNEL+ cells in animals receiving ethanol or nicotine, but not both, after 2 days of withdrawal. At 5 days post-administration, all drug receiving animals had fewer TUNEL+ cells than control animals. This could indicate that ethanol and nicotine are more likely to interact in a way that produces behavioral effects from the inhibition of proliferation rather than from cell death. However, an inhibition of proliferation from combined use was not observed in the current study, suggesting the interaction between the two drugs does not last 17 days after cessation.

Nicotinic antagonists have been reported to decrease ethanol intake (Lajtha & Sershen, 2010). It is possible for cross tolerance to develop between these two drugs and it is unlikely that the tolerance is completely dependent on cholinergic receptors (Lajtha & Sershen, 2010). More likely, the two drugs alter the metabolism of the other (Hurley et al., 2012). As reported by Gomez et al. (2015), animals that received both ethanol and tobacco smoke had higher blood

levels of cotinine, the primary metabolite of nicotine, compared to animals that only received tobacco smoke. It is possible that when the animals in the current study were exposed to both ethanol and nicotine, the drugs led to an increased metabolic tolerance to nicotine. Similar to results observed by Gomez et al. (2015).

In adolescence, there is an increased vulnerability to many of the negative effects of drug use (Slotkin, 2002). The decrease in proliferation from ethanol exposure seen in our study could have been due to the increased vulnerability of this stage of life. One of the most negatively impacted brain regions in adolescents is the hippocampus (Nixonet al., 2011). Human research involving ethanol use and abuse has shown that adolescents tend to have greater impairments in hippocampal-dependent memory tasks compared to adults (Nixon et al., 2010). Research on alcohol use disorders in adolescents tends to reveal more consistent decreases in spatial memory, verbal memory, and attention, when compared to similar studies in adults (Nixon et al., 2010). One study compared teens, between the ages of 15 to 17, who had been diagnosed with an alcohol abuse or dependence disorder, to healthy cohorts. MRI scans revealed that the teens with alcohol abuse or dependence disorder had decreased hippocampal volumes (Nagel et al., 2005).

Adolescent animals also seem to be more vulnerable to certain long-term changes in protein expression due to ethanol administration, with some of the proteins involved in neurogenic processes (Hargraves et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2008). In the current study, decreased proliferation within the SGZ was observed at 17 days of abstinence. Changes in proliferation in adolescents have been observed after longer periods of abstinence. One study found that differences between animals receiving ethanol and control animals were still detectable via BrdU labeling after 35 days of abstinence (Morris et al., 2010a).

The reduction in proliferation could have potential negative consequences for adolescents. Learning that relies on the hippocampus, such as spatial memory, is correlated with neurogenesis (Balu & Lucki, 2009). Increased neurogenesis has been shown to be positively correlated with performance on tasks such as contextual fear conditioning, the MWM, and trace eye-blink conditioning (Balu & Lucki, 2009). Furthermore, factors that decrease neurogenesis typically also decrease performance on hippocampal-dependent learning tasks (Zhao et al., 2008). Neurogenesis has been implicated in almost every functional aspect of the hippocampus (Nixon et al., 2010). Neurogenesis could even play a role in disorders related to alterations in hippocampal functioning including depression, schizophrenia, and epilepsy (Balu & Lucki, 2009). However, further research is needed to determine the role of neurogenesis in these disorders.

### Morris water maze

During the experiment, animals underwent behavioral testing. All groups were exposed to the MWM for 12 days during the withdrawal period. The MWM was performed to determine if expected changes in proliferation were accompanied by decreases in spatial memory. As observed in the current study, animals that received ethanol had decreased performance in the acquisition phase of the MWM. The decrease in performance was expected as decreases in hippocampal proliferation have been linked with decreased performance on the MWM (Balu & Lucki, 2009). Supporting the finding of decreased spatial learning in the current study, a previous study indicated that concurrent exposure to tobacco and ethanol also lead to decreases in proliferation, albeit without the inclusion of a withdrawal and lower ethanol doses (4 g/kg/day) (Gomez et al., 2015).

It is possible that the use of this task itself could have influenced neurogenesis. Researchers have reported both that the MWM task experience has increased neurogenesis (Gould et al., 1999), and that it had no influence on neurogenesis (Van Praag et al., 1999). Performance on the MWM task relies on spatial memory, which is thought to be directly influenced by hippocampal neurogenesis. Hippocampal neurogenesis, in turn, influences overall hippocampal functioning (Balu & Lucki, 2009; Ehninger & Kempermann, 2006). Currently, there appears to still be debate as to whether the learning that occurs during the MWM task causes changes in proliferation or cell survival in the hippocampus (Ehninger & Kempermann, 2006). The MWM task has several components that have been shown to influence proliferation, such as physical activity, stress, and spatial learning (Ehninger & Kempermann, 2006).

First, the MWM involves physical activity. Voluntary physical exercise has been reported to increase proliferation (Balu & Lucki, 2009). However, this effect is unlikely to have led to alterations in neurogenesis between groups present in the current study since all animals in all groups participated. Additionally, as reported by Van Praag et al. (1999), animals that had access to a running wheel displayed an increase in hippocampal proliferation, but animals that were subjected to the MWM or swim-time-yoked control animals did not reveal any increase in proliferation. Another component of the MWM is stress. The MWM task is believed to be a significant source of stress. Researchers such as Ehninger and Kempermann (2006) have shown that pre-exposure to conditions similar to the MWM before MWM testing have led to significant decreases in stress when compared to animals that did not have pre-exposure. Stress is believed to lead to decreases in proliferation (Kirby, 2013). Stress associated with MWM testing is also unlikely to have led to differences between groups due to stress, as all animals in the current study participated in the MWM. Finally, spatial learning itself could have an influence on

proliferation (Balu & Lucki, 2009). A review by Leuner, Gould, and Shors (2006) states that much evidence exists both for and against the hypothesis that spatial learning may influence proliferation within the SGZ. More research is needed to reach a definitive conclusion. It is possible that spatial learning is more likely to affect other aspects of neurogenesis such as cell survival and maturation (Shors, Anderson, Curlik, & Nokia, 2012).

### Withdrawal

In the current study, nicotine did not influence the average withdrawal behavior observed in ethanol receiving animals compared to animals that received ethanol and saline. Adolescents tend to be more resistant to the negative effects associated with nicotine use and withdrawal (O'Dell et al., 2006). As demonstrated by O'Dell et al. (2006), adolescent animals (receiving nicotine doses of 1.6, 3.2, or 4.7 mg/kg/day) did not have a significantly different number of withdrawal behaviors, such as eye-blinks, yawns, or foot licks, compared to control animals. However, adult animals receiving 2.1 or 3.2 mg/kg/day, but not 1 mg/kg/day, performed a greater number of withdrawal behaviors compared to control animals. Animals in the current study received slightly less nicotine than the groups that did not show withdrawal symptoms.

Withdrawal scores in the current study were quite low, with average withdrawal scores being less than 1 for animals receiving ethanol and those receiving ethanol and nicotine. This indicates that most animals during observational timepoints did not show withdrawal symptoms. Morris and colleagues (2010b) used a binge ethanol protocol similar the one currently employed, as well as a similar withdrawal behavior measure with the only difference being 17 hours of observation rather than 18. In their study, adolescent and adult animals had comparable withdrawal scores, except for one timepoint at 11 hours of abstinence where adults showed more severe withdrawal behaviors than adolescents. The average withdrawal score for adolescents was

1.5, indicating behaviors such as hyperactivity, tail tremors, and tail spasms. Animals in the current study showed fewer withdrawal behaviors on average, 0.5 for animals receiving ethanol only and 0.34 for animals receiving both ethanol and nicotine. Additionally, a high degree of variability in withdrawal scores was observed in the current study. Variability in withdrawal behaviors observed in the Morris and colleagues (2010b) study was less than the current study.

A difference in peak withdrawal behaviors emerged between ethanol exposure groups such that animals receiving saline had more severe withdrawal behaviors than those receiving nicotine. It is possible that animals in the current study metabolized nicotine more quickly, giving them more time to recover from the effects of the drug. Vieira-Brock and colleagues (2013) reported differences in metabolism between post-natal day (PND) 40 rats and PND 90 rats following a single administration of nicotine. PND 90 animals had significantly higher blood concentrations of nicotine compared to PND 40 animals for the first 2 hours. Also, for the first 2 hours following administration, PND 90 animals had lower concentrations of cotinine in their blood when compared to PND 40 animals.

Furthermore, the differences in peak withdrawal behaviors could have been due to an interaction between the nicotine and ethanol. To further explore this possibility, statistical analyses were conducted on all the observed withdrawal timepoints. While the only timepoint where the groups had statistically different peak withdrawal scores was at midnight, several timepoints had moderate effect sizes. Animals that received ethanol and nicotine had reduced withdrawal scores compared to animals that received ethanol and saline at most timepoints. One study that examined both ethanol and tobacco found a significantly greater amount of cotinine levels in their blood compared to animals exposed to tobacco only (Gomez et al., 2015). This indicates that when animals are exposed to both drugs concurrently, nicotine seems to become

metabolized more rapidly than when used alone. This is possible as animals receiving both ethanol and nicotine stopped showing signs of withdrawal at 5 a.m., but animals in the ethanol only group still showed minor signs of withdrawal through the 7 a.m. timepoint. Hurley and colleagues (2012) have also suggested that the co-use of these drugs leads to a combination of the analgesic effects of the drugs, as well as negation of adverse effects associated with either drug. These effects could have persisted during the period of withdrawal behavior monitoring, preventing animals from experiencing the more severe effects of ethanol withdrawal.

### **Drug Administration**

In the current study, cell proliferation within the SGZ was decreased approximately two weeks after binge administration of ethanol. Research has found that ethanol impacts neurogenesis in a dose-dependent manner, where larger doses of ethanol produced more pronounced decreases in proliferation (Crews et al., 2000). In a study that employed the binge model of administration, adolescent animals received doses of ethanol averaging 12.1 g/kg/day (McClain et al., 2011). In their study, blood ethanol concentrations were approximately 353.5 mg/dl during the second day of administration. In the current study, the animals received an average of 12.15 g/kg/day ethanol (25% w/v). Animals in the current study received very similar levels of ethanol administration as previous studies that employed similar methods of ethanol administration in adolescent animals (McClain et al., 2011). Often ethanol doses received by adults using this procedure are lower because adults are more susceptible to reductions in motor ability. Nixon and Crews (2004) administered an average of 8.9 g/kg/day to adults using similar procedures. With doses is this model being determined based on behavioral measures of intoxication, this is to be expected (Nixon & Crews, 2004). When comparing adults to adolescent animals in amount of ethanol received from a drug administration, Morris et al. (2010b) found

that adolescents received significantly more ethanol, 12.3 g/kg/day compared to adults that received 9.2 g/kg/day during the binge procedure.

In a study by Abrous et al. (2002), animals that were given access to higher concentrations of nicotine over the course of 42 days had decreased proliferation in the SGZ. Animals who received doses of nicotine of either 0.04 mg/kg/infusion or 0.08 mg/kg/infusion had decreased proliferation when compared to control animals. These animals self-administered approximately 0.2 mg/kg/day and 0.3 mg/kg/day respectively. This effect was not seen in animals receiving doses of 0.02 mg/kg/infusion, receiving an average of 0.1 mg/kg/day. The withdrawal period used in their study was 2 days. Some studies have even reported negative effects of nicotine on various proteins involved in processes that are directly related to neurogenesis, such as synaptic plasticity, cell-to-cell interactions, and regeneration (Shingo & Kito, 2005). In Shingo and Kito's (2005) study, animals that received injections of nicotine for 2 weeks at doses of 0.1 mg/kg, 0.5 mg/kg, and 1 mg/kg all decreased the production of proteins involved in cell adhesion, while other proteins remained unaffected. Doses of nicotine used in the current study were likely to have elicited physiological changes in the animals that received them. This is because an interaction between ethanol and nicotine on MWM performance was observed. However, the effect likely did not last until the end of the withdrawal period, as there was no main effect of nicotine or an interaction between ethanol and nicotine on cell proliferation.

### Nutrition

The animals in the current were weighed at various points throughout the study. Body weight group averages for the animals in the study were comparable to each other at the beginning and end of experimentation, but ethanol-exposed animals reduced body weight

compared to other animals at select points. Importantly, alterations in nutritional components are believed to influence neurogenesis. Park and Lee (2011) state that dietary restriction or excess has been shown to influence neurogenesis. Specifically, dietary restriction is believed to increase survival of newly born cells without influencing proliferation, and dietary excess is believed to decrease survival of newly born neurons. Other diet-related factors are also believed to influence hippocampal functioning, including proportion of diet that is sugar or fat, and texture (Zainuddin & Thuret, 2012). A study by Ross et al. (2007) compared animals on a high fructose diet versus animals receiving standard laboratory rat chow. While acquisition of the MWM task was unaffected, retention was decreased in the fructose diet group. Retention was measured as amount of time spent in the quadrant where the hidden platform was located, and time to travel to platform location. Texture of food has also been shown to influence neurogenesis. Research by Yamamoto et al. (2009) found that animals placed on a powdered diet compared to standard rat chow containing the same ingredients had a reduction in proliferation in the SGZ as evidenced by a reduction in the number of BrdU+ cells. As all groups in the current study received similar diets, the influence of food content was uniform and unlikely to lead to differences in neurogenesis between groups. Furthermore, by the time the study ended, there were no differences between groups based on body weight. Even if animals receiving ethanol began to consume more food by the end of the study, changes in the number of calories consumed influences cell survival rather than proliferation, as reported by Park and Lee (2011). **Future considerations** 

Two of the most common drugs of abuse among adolescents are alcohol and nicotine (NSDUH, 2013). Close to three million adolescents in America admitted to current alcohol use and about half that number admit to cigarette use in the past month (NSDUH, 2013). Users of

one of these drugs are also more likely to use the other (Lê et al., 2014). Adolescents seem to be at an increased risk of developing use and addiction to either drug, possibly due to experimentation at this age and differences in physiological effects compared to adults (Vieira-Brock et al., 2013; Kandel & Chen, 2000; Nixon et al., 2010). While this experiment was able to shed some light on extended withdrawal from ethanol and nicotine within adolescent populations, additional questions still need to be answered. Testing the effect of various doses of nicotine combined with ethanol should be one of the next steps. The current study examined the effects of ethanol dependence and nicotine doses that approximated light smoking. The results of the current study support the finding that lower doses of nicotine may not have lasting effects on proliferation within the SGZ of the hippocampus. However, larger doses of nicotine, similar to smoking at a rate that is closer to that of a heavy smoker, have negative neural consequences and may reveal an interaction between these two drugs.

### References

- Abadi, T., Hashemi N., Vaghef, L., Babri, S., Mahmood-Alilo, M., & Beirami, M. (2013).
  Effects of different exercise protocols on ethanol-induced spatial memory impairment in adult male rats. *Alcohol*, 47(4), 309-316.
- Åberg, E., Hofstetter, C. P., Olson, L., & Brené, S. (2005). Moderate ethanol consumption increases hippocampal cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 8(4), 557-567.
- Åberg, E., Hofstetter, C. P., Olson, L., & Brené, S. (2005). Moderate ethanol consumption increases hippocampal cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 8(4), 557-567.
- Abrous, D. N., Adriani, W., Montaron, M. F., Aurousseau, C., Rougon, G., Le Moal, M., & Piazza, P. V. (2002). Nicotine self-administration impairs hippocampal plasticity. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(9), 3656-3662.
- Alonso, M., Viollet, C., Gabellec, M. M., Meas-Yedid, V., Olivo-Marin, J. C., & Lledo, P. M.
  (2006). Olfactory discrimination learning increases the survival of adult-born neurons in the olfactory bulb. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(41), 10508-10513.
- Altman, J., & Das, G. D. (1965). Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *124*(3), 319-335.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Banasr, M., Soumier, A., Hery, M., Mocaer, E., & Daszuta, A. (2006). Agomelatine, a new antidepressant, induces regional changes in hippocampal neurogenesis. *Biological Psychiatry*, 59(11), 1087-1096.

- Balu, D. T., & Lucki, I. (2009). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis: Regulation, functional implications, and contribution to disease pathology. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 33(3), 232-252.
- Borré, G., & Maier, G. (1989). On linear versus nonlinear flow rules in strain localization analysis. *Meccanica*, 24(1), 36-41.
- Boschen, K. E., Criss, K. J., Palamarchouk, V., Roth, T. L., & Klintsova, A. Y. (2015). Effects of developmental alcohol exposure vs. intubation stress on BDNF and TrkB expression in the hippocampus and frontal cortex of neonatal rats. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 43, 16-24.
- Bromberg-Martin, E. S., Matsumoto, M., & Hikosaka, O. (2010). Dopamine in motivational control: Rewarding, aversive, and alerting. *Neuron*, *68*(5), 815-834.
- Bruel-Jungerman, E., Rampon, C., & Laroche, S. (2007). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity and memory: Facts and hypotheses. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 18(2), 93-114.
- Burghardt, N. S., Park, E. H., Hen, R., & Fenton, A. A. (2012). Adult-born hippocampal neurons promote cognitive flexibility in mice. *Hippocampus*, 22(9), 1795-1808.
- Campbell, J. C., Stipcevic, T., Flores, R. E., Perry, C., & Kippin, T. E. (2014). Alcohol exposure inhibits adult neural stem cell proliferation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 232(9), 2775-2784.
- Ceballos, N. A. (2006). Tobacco use, alcohol dependence, and cognitive performance. *The Journal of General Psychology*, *133*(4), 375-388.

- Clark, A., & Little, H. J. (2004). Interactions between low concentrations of ethanol and nicotine on firing rate of ventral tegmental dopamine neurons. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 75(2), 199-206.
- Cohen, A., Soleiman, M. T., Talia, R., Koob, G. F., George, O., & Mandyam, C. D. (2015).
   Extended access nicotine self-administration with periodic deprivation increases
   immature neurons in the hippocampus. *Psychopharmacology*, 232(2), 453-463.
- Cosgrove, K. P., McKay, R., Esterlis, I., Loczunski, T., Perkins, E., Bois, F., ... & Krystal, J. H. (2014). Tobacco smoking interferes with GABAA receptor neuroadaptations during prolonged alcohol withdrawal. *PNAS Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 111(50), 18031-18036.
- Crews, F. T., Braun, C. J., Hoplight, B., Switzer, R. C., & Boschen, D. J. (2000). Binge ethanol consumption causes differential brain damage in young adolescent rats compared with adult rats. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 24(11), 1712-1723.
- Crews, F. T., & Nixon, K. (2009). Mechanisms of neurodegeneration and regeneration in alcoholism. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 44(2), 115-127.
- Criswell, H. E., Ming, Z., Griffith, B. L., & Breese, G. R. (2003). Comparison of effect of ethanol on N-methyl-D-aspartate and GABA-gated currents from acutely dissociated neurons: Absence of regional differences in sensitivity to ethanol. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 304*(1), 192-199.
- Ehninger, D., & Kempermann, G. (2006). Paradoxical effects of learning the Morris water maze on adult hippocampal neurogenesis in mice may be explained by a combination of stress and physical activity. *Genes, Brain and Behavior, 5*(1), 29-39.

- Eriksson, P. S., Perfilieva, E., Björk-Eriksson, T., Alborn, A. M., Nordborg, C., Peterson, D. A., & Gage, F. H. (1998). Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. *Nature medicine*, 4(11), 1313-1317.
- Falk, D. E., Yi, H., & Hiller-Sturmhofel, S. (2006). An epidemiologic analysis of co-occurring alcohol and tobacco use and disorders. *Alcohol Research & Health*, 29(3), 162-171.
- George, O., Lloyd, A., & Carroll, I. (2011). Varenicline blocks nicotine intake in rats with extended access to nicotine self-administration. *Psychopharmacology*, *213*(4), 715-722.
- Gerdes, J., Lemke, H., Baisch, H., Wacker, H. H., Schwab, U., & Stein, H. (1984). Cell cycle analysis of a cell proliferation-associated human nuclear antigen defined by the monoclonal antibody Ki-67. *The Journal of Immunology*, *133*(4), 1710-1715.
- Gomez, R., Schneider, R., Quinteros, D., Santos, C. F., Bandiera, S., Thiesen, F. V., ... &
  Wieczorek, M. G. (2015). Effect of alcohol and tobacco smoke on long-term memory and cell proliferation in the hippocampus of rats. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, *17*(12), 1442-1448.
- Gotti, C., Clementi, F., Fornari, A., Gaimarri, A., Guiducci, S., Manfredi, I., ... & Zoli, M.
  (2009). Structural and functional diversity of native brain neuronal nicotinic receptors. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 78(7), 703-711.
- Gould, E., & Tanapat, P. (1999). Stress and hippocampal neurogenesis. *Biological psychiatry*, *46*(11), 1472-1479.
- Grundey, J., Amu, R., Ambrus, G. G., Batsikadze, G., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. A. (2015).
  Double dissociation of working memory and attentional processes in smokers and non-smokers with and without nicotine. *Psychopharmacology*, 232(14), 2491-2501.

- Hamelink, C., Hampson, A., Wink, D. A., Eiden, L. E., & Eskay, R. L. (2005). Comparison of cannabidiol, antioxidants, and diuretics in reversing binge ethanol-induced neurotoxicity. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 314(2), 780-788.
- Hansson, A. C., Nixon, K., Rimondini, R., Damadzic, R., Sommer, W. H., Eskay, R., ... & Heileig, M. (2010). Long-term suppression of forebrain neurogenesis and loss of neuronal progenitor cells following prolonged alcohol dependence in rats. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *13*, 583-593.
- Hargraves, G. A., Quinn, H., Kashem, M. A., Matsumoto, I., & McGregor, I. S. (2009).
  Proteomic analysis demonstrates adolescent vulnerability to lasting hippocampal changes following chronic alcohol consumption. *Alcohol Clinical and Experimental Research*, 33, 86-94.
- He, J., & Crews, F. T. (2007). Neurogenesis decreases during brain maturation from adolescence to adulthood. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 86(2), 327-333.
- Hosp, J. A., Nolan, H. E., & Luft, A. R. (2015). Topography and collateralization of dopaminergic projections to primary motor cortex in rats. *Experimental brain research*, 233(5), 1365-1375.
- Hurley, L. L., Taylor, R. E., & Tizabi, Y. (2012). Positive and negative effects of alcohol and nicotine and their interactions: A mechanistic review. *Neurotoxicity Research*, *21*(1), 57-69.
- Ijomone, O. M., & Nwoha, P. U. (2015). Nicotine inhibits hippocampal and striatal acetylcholinesterase activities, and demonstrates dual action on adult neuronal proliferation and maturation. *Pathophysiology*, *22*(4), 231-239.

- Jang, M. H., Shin, M. C., Jung, S. B., Lee, T. H., Bahn, G. H., Kwon, Y. K., ... & Kim, C. J. (2002). Alcohol and nicotine reduce cell proliferation and enhance apoptosis in dentate gyrus. *NeuroReport*, 13(12), 1509-1513.
- Jang, M. H., Song, H., & Ming, G. L. (2008). Regulation of adult neurogenesis by neurotransmitters. *Cold Spring Harbor Monograph Archive*, 52, 397-423.
- Kee, N., Sivalingam, S., Boonstra, R., & Wojtowicz, J. M. (2002). The utility of Ki-67 and BrdU as proliferative markers of adult neurogenesis. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 115(1), 97-105.
- Kee, N., Teixeira, C. M., Wang, A. H., & Frankland, P. W. (2007). Preferential incorporation of adult-generated granule cells into spatial memory networks in the dentate gyrus. *Nature Neuroscience*, 10(3), 355-362.
- Kandel, D. B., & Chen, K. (2000). Extent of smoking and nicotine dependence in the United States: 1991–1993. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, *2*(3), 263-274.
- Kirby, E. D., Muroy, S. E., Sun, W. G., Covarrubias, D., Leong, M. J., Barchas, L. A., & Kaufer, D. (2013). Acute stress enhances adult rat hippocampal neurogenesis and activation of newborn neurons via secreted astrocytic FGF2. *eLife*, 2 (2013), p. e00362.
- Lajtha, A., & Sershen, H. (2010). Nicotine: Alcohol reward interactions. *Neurochemical Research*, *35*(8), 1248-1258.
- Laplagne, D. A., Kamienkowski, J. E., Espósito, M. S., Piatti, V. C., Zhao, C., Gage, F. H., & Schinder, A. F. (2007). Similar GABAergic inputs in dentate granule cells born during embryonic and adult neurogenesis. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(10), 2973-2981.

- Lê, A. D., Funk, D., Lo, S., & Coen, K. (2014). Operant self-administration of alcohol and nicotine in a preclinical model of co-abuse. *Psychopharmacology*, 231(20), 4019-4029.
- Leuner, B., Gould, E., & Shors, T. J. (2006). Is there a link between adult neurogenesis and learning? *Hippocampus*, *16*(3), 216-224.
- Lonze, B. E., & Ginty, D. D. (2002). Function and regulation of CREB family transcription factors in the nervous system. *Neuron*, *35*(4), 605-623.
- Majchrowicz, E. (1975). Induction of physical dependence upon ethanol and the associated behavioral changes in rats. *Psychopharmacologia (Berl.)*, *43*, 245-254.
- McClain, J. A., Morris, S. A., Deeny, M. A., Marshall, S. A., Hayes, D. M., Kiser, Z. M., & Nixon, K. (2011). Adolescent binge alcohol exposure induces long-lasting partial activation of microglia. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 25, S120-S128.
- McClain, J. A., Morris, S. A., Marshall, S. A., & Nixon, K. (2014). Ectopic hippocampal neurogenesis in adolescent male rats following alcohol dependence. *Addiction Biology*, 19(4), 687-699.
- Meinhardt, M. W., & Sommer, W. H. (2015). Postdependent state in rats as a model for medication development in alcoholism. *Addiction Biology*, *20*(1), 1-21.
- Mirescu, C., & Gould, E. (2006). Stress and adult neurogenesis. *HIPPOCAMPUS*, *16*(3), 233-238.
- Mohapel, P., Leanza, G., Kokaia, M., & Lindvall, O. (2005). Forebrain acetylcholine regulates adult hippocampal neurogenesis and learning. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *26*(6), 939-946.
- Morris, S. A., Eaves, D. W., Smith, A. R., & Nixon, K. (2010). Alcohol inhibition of neurogenesis: A mechanism of hippocampal neurodegeneration in an adolescent alcohol abuse model. *Hippocampus*, 20(5), 596-607.

- Morris, S. A., Kelso, M. L., Liput, D. J., Marshall, S. A., & Nixon, K. (2010). Similar withdrawal severity in adolescents and adults in a rat model of alcohol dependence. *Alcohol*, 44(1), 89-98.
- Morrison, S. J., & Spradling, A. C. (2008). Stem cells and niches: Mechanisms that promote stem cell maintenance throughout life. *Cell*, *132*(4), 598-611.
- Mumenthaler, M. S., Taylor, J. L., O'Hara, R., & Yesavage, J. A. (1999). Gender differences in moderate drinking effects. *Alcohol Research and Health*, 23(1), 55-64.
- Nagel, B. J., Schweinsburg, A. D., Phan, V., & Tapert, S. F. (2005). Reduced hippocampal volume among adolescents with alcohol use disorders without psychiatric comorbidity. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 139(3), 181-190.
- Nixon, K., & Crews, F. T. (2002). Binge ethanol exposure decreases neurogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *83*(5), 1087-1093.
- Nixon, K., & Crews, F. T. (2004). Temporally specific burst in cell proliferation increases hippocampal neurogenesis in protracted abstinence from alcohol. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(43), 9714-9722.
- Nixon, K., Morris, S. A., Liput, D. J., & Kelso, M. L. (2010). Roles of neural stem cells and adult neurogenesis in adolescent alcohol use disorder. *Alcohol*, *44*, 39-56.
- Nixon, K., Pauly, J. R., & Hayes, D. M. (2011). Alcohol, nicotine, and adult neurogenesis. *Drug Addiction and Adult Neurogenesis. Kerala, India: Research Signpost*, 95-119.
- Nixon, K., Kim, D. H., Potts, E. N., He, J., & Crews, F. T. (2008). Distinct cell proliferation events during abstinence after alcohol dependence: Microglia proliferation precedes neurogenesis. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 31(2), 218-229.

- Noori, H. R., & Casimir, A. F. (2011). The appropriateness of unbiased optical fractionators to assess cell proliferation in the adult hippocampus. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *5*, 1-4.
- Novier, A., Van Skike, C. E., Diaz-Granados, J. L., Mittleman, G., & Matthews, D. B. (2013). Acute alcohol produces ataxia and cognitive impairments in aged animals: A comparison between young adult and aged rats. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 37(8), 1317-1324.
- O'Dell, L. E., Bruijnzeel, A. W., Smith, R. T., Parsons, L. H., Merves, M. L., Goldberger, B. A.,
  ... & Markou, A. (2006). Diminished nicotine withdrawal in adolescent rats: Implications for vulnerability to addiction. *Psychopharmacology*, *186*(4), 612-619.
- O'Dell, L. E., Natividad, L. A., Pipkin, J.A., Roman, F., Torres, I., Jurado, J., ... & Nazarian, A. (2013). Enhanced nicotine self-administration and suppressed dopaminergic systems in a rat model of diabetes. *Addiction Biology*, *19*(6), 1006-1019.
- Oliveira-da-Silva, A., Manhaes, A. C., Cristina-Rodrigues, F., Filgueiras, C. C., & Abreu-Villaca, Y. (2010). Hippocampal increased cell death and decreased cell density elicited by nicotine and/or ethanol during adolescence are reversed during drug withdrawal. *Neuroscience*, 167(1), 163-173.
- Park, H. R., & Lee, J. (2011). Neurogenic contributions made by dietary regulation to hippocampal neurogenesis. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1229(1), 23-28.

Paxinos, G., & Watson, C. (2012). The rat brain (2nd Ed.). San Diego: Academic Press.

Rezvani, A. H., & Levin, E. D. (2004). Adolescent and adult rats respond differently to nicotine and alcohol: Motor activity and body temperature. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 22, 349-354.

- Roberto, M., Schweitzer, P., Madamba, S. G., Stouffer, D. G., Parsons, L. H., & Siggins, G. R. (2004). Acute and chronic ethanol alter glutamatergic transmission in rat central amygdala: An in vitro and in vivo analysis. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(7), 1594-1603.
- Ross, A. P., Bartness, T. J., Mielke, J. G., & Parent, M. B. (2009). A high fructose diet impairs spatial memory in male rats. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, *92*(3), 410-416.
- Ruggeri, B., Braconi, S., Cannella, N., Kallupi, M., Soverchia, L., Ciccocioppo, R., & Ubaldi, M. (2010). Neuropeptide S receptor gene expression in alcohol withdrawal and protracted abstinence in postdependent rats. *Alcohol Clinical and Experimental Research*, *34*(1), 90-97.
- SAMHSA. 2013 National survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. (NSDUH), Retrieved from: https://www.samhsa.gov.
- Sanchez-Roige, S., Ripley, T. L., & Stephens, D. N. (2015). Alleviating waiting impulsivity and perseverative responding by μ-opioid receptor antagonism in two inbred mouse strains. *Psychopharmacology*, 232(8), 1483-1492.
- Sanchis-Segura, C., & Spanagel, R. (2006). REVIEW: behavioural assessment of drug reinforcement and addictive features in rodents: An overview. *Addiction Biology*, 11(1), 2-38.
- Santarelli, L., Saxe, M., Gross, C., Surget, A., Battaglia, F., Dulawa, S., ... & Belzung, C. (2003). Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. *Science*, 301, 805-809.

- Sari, Y., Johnson, V. R., & Weedman, J. M. (2011). Role of the serotonergic system in alcohol dependence: From animal models to clinics. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*, 98, 401-443.
- Scerri, C., Stewart, C. A., Breen, K. C., & Balfour, D. J. (2006). The effects of chronic nicotine on spatial learning and bromodeoxyuridine incorporation into the dentate gyrus of the rat. *Psychopharmacology*, 184(3), 540-546.
- Scholzen, T., & Gerdes, J. (2000). The Ki-67 protein: From the known and the unknown. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 182(3), 311-322.
- Schulteis, G., Hyytia, P., Heinrichs, S. C., & Koob, G. F. (1996). Effects of chronic ethanol exposure on oral self-administration of ethanol or saccharin by Wistar rats. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 20(1), 164-171.
- Sengupta, P. (2013). The laboratory rat: Relating its age with human's. *International Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 4(6), 624-630.
- Shingo, A. S., & Kito, S. (2005). Effects of nicotine on neurogenesis and plasticity of hippocampal neurons. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 112(11), 1475-1478.
- Shors, T. J., Anderson, M. L., Curlik, D., & Nokia, M. S. (2012). Use it or lose it: How neurogenesis keeps the brain fit for learning. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 227(2), 450-458.
- Shors, T. J., Mathew, J., Sisti, H. M., Edgecomb, C., Beckoff, S., & Dalla, C. (2007). Neurogenesis and helplessness are mediated by controllability in males but not in females. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(5), 487-495.

- Sharrett-Field, L., Butler, T. R., Berry, J. N., Reynolds, A. R., & Prendergast, M. A. (2013). Mifepristone pretreatment reduces ethanol withdrawal severity in vivo. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 37(8), 1417-1423.
- Slotkin, T. A. (2002). Nicotine and the adolescent brain: Insights from an animal model. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, *24*(3), 369-384.
- Stevenson, J. R., Schroeder, J. P., Nixon, K., Besheer, J., Crews, F. T., & Hodge, C. W. (2009). Abstinence following alcohol drinking produces depression-like behavior and reduced hippocampal neurogenesis in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34(5), 1209-1222.
- Sullivan, E. V., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2005). Neurocircuitry in alcoholism: A substrate of disruption and repair. *Psychopharmacology*, 180(4), 583-594.
- Switzer, R. C. (2000). Application of silver degeneration stains for neurotoxicity testing. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 28(1), 70-83.
- Taffe, M. A., Kotzebue, R. W., Crean, R. D., Crawford, E. F., Edwards, S., & Mandyam, C. D. (2010). Long-lasting reduction in hippocampal neurogenesis by alcohol consumption in adolescent nonhuman primates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(24), 11104-11109.
- Torres, O. V., Tejeda, H. A., Natividad, L. A., & O'Dell, L. E. (2008). Enhanced vulnerability to the rewarding effects of nicotine during the adolescent period of development. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 90(4), 658-663.
- Tozuka, Y., Fukuda, S., Namba, T., Seki, T., & Hisatsune, T. (2005). GABAergic excitation promotes neuronal differentiation in adult hippocampal progenitor cells. *Neuron*, 47(6), 803-815.

- Trauth, J. A., McCook, E. C., Seidler, F. J., & Slotkin, T. A. (2000). Modeling adolescent nicotine exposure: Effects on cholinergic systems in rat brain regions. *Brain Research*, 873(1), 18-25.
- Van Praag, H., Kempermann, G., & Gage, F. H. (1999). Running increases cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse dentate gyrus. *Nature Neuroscience*, 2(3), 266-270.
- Van Skike, C. E., Botta, Chin, V. S., Tokunaga, S., McDaniel, J. M., Venard, J., ... & Matthews,
  B. (2010). Behavioral effects of ethanol in cerebellum are age dependent: Potential system and molecular mechanisms. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 34(12), 2070-2080.
- Veena, J., Rao, B. S., & Srikumar, B. N. (2011). Regulation of adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus by stress, acetylcholine and dopamine. *Journal of Natural Science, Biology* and Medicine, 2(1), 26.
- Vieira-Brock, P. L., Andrenyak, D. M., Nielsen, S. M., Fleckenstein, A. E., & Wilkins, D. G. (2013). Age-related differences in the disposition of nicotine and metabolites in rat brain and plasma. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 15(11), 1839-1848.
- Xie, N., Yang, Q., Chappell, T. D., Li, C.-X., & Waters, R. S. (2010). Prenatal alcohol exposure reduces the size of the forelimb representation in motor cortex in rat: An intracortical microstimulation (ICMS) mapping study. *Alcohol*, 44(2), 185-194.
- Yamamoto, T., Hirayama, A., Hosoe, N., Furube, M., & Hirano, S. (2009). Soft-diet feeding inhibits adult neurogenesis in hippocampus of mice. The Bulletin of Tokyo Dental *College*, 50(3), 117-124.
- Yildiz, D. (2004). Nicotine, its metabolism and an overview of its biological effects. *Toxicon*, *43*(6), 619-632.

- Zainuddin, M. S. A., & Thuret, S. (2012). Nutrition, adult hippocampal neurogenesis and mental health. *British Medical Bulletin*, *103*(1), 89-114.
- Zhao, C., Deng, W., & Gage, F. H. (2008). Mechanisms and functional implications of adult neurogenesis. *Cell*, 132(4), 645-660.